# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

BRYAN F. JENNINGS, ) ) Appellant, ) ) CASE NO ) STATE OF FLORIDA, Appellee.

vs.

# APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

CHRISTOPHER S. QUARLES ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER CHIEF, CAPITAL APPEALS 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32014

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

#

# STATEMENT OF THE CASE

BRYAN FREDERICK JENNINGS was initially charged by an indictment filed on May 16, 1979, in Brevard County. The indictment charged Jennings with the first-degree premeditated murder of Rebecca Kunash, with the first-degree felony-murder of Rebecca Kunash (during the course of a kidnapping with intent to commit sexual battery), with the first-degree felony-murder of Rebecca Kunash (during the course of a sexual battery), with the kidnapping of Rebecca Kunash, with three counts of capital sexual battery on Rebecca Kunash, with the burglary of the Robert Kunash dwelling with the intent to commit sexual battery or kidnapping and with an assault therein, and with the aggravated battery of Rebecca Kunash. Following a trial in February, 1980, Jennings was convicted of all nine counts and sentenced to death. The trial judge entered his findings of fact in support thereof. (R2725-2731) Appellant's convictions and sentences were

subsequently vacated by this Court, and the case was remanded for a new trial. (R2761-2771); Jennings v. State, 413 So.2d 24 (Fla. 1982).

On June 11, 1982, the Brevard County Grand Jury reindicted Jennings on the same charges. (R1039-1041) Following a jury trial in 1982, the jury returned with a verdict of not guilty as to Count VI (sexual battery) and guilty as charged on the other eight counts. (R2848-2856) The trial court again sentenced the Appellant to death and entered written findings. (R3016-3021) On direct appeal this Court affirmed Appellant's convictions and sentences. [R3024-3034; Jennings v. State, 453 So.2d 1109 (Fla. 1984)] Appellant subsequently petitioned in the Supreme Court of the United States for a Writ of Certiorari based upon a violation of Appellant's constitutional rights in obtaining his confession. On February 25, 1985, the United States Supreme Court rendered an order vacating this Court's decision in Jennings v. State, 453 So.2d 1109 (Fla. 1984). Subsequently, this Court remanded this cause for a new trial in accordance with Edwards v. Arizona, 451 U.S. 477 (1981). Jennings v. State, 473 So.2d 204 (Fla. 1985); (R3039-3043)

Prior to the commencement of the instant trial, the State announced a nolle prosequi as to count VII (one of the sexual battery charges) and count IX (aggravated battery). The State then proceeded to trial on counts I through V and VIII of the second indictment. (R2034)

Defense counsel filed numerous pre-trial motions, including a motion to suppress evidence (R3238-3243); a motion

- 2 -

for change of venue (R3248-3256); a motion in limine pertaining to the previously recorded testimony of Allen Kruger (R3349-3351); and a motion to declare Section 913.13, Florida Statutes, unconstitutional (R3388-3389).

Appellant's motion for change of venue was granted and the jury trial was held in the above-styled cause before the Honorable Charles M. Harris, Circuit Judge of the Eighteenth Judicial Circuit. The trial was held in Panama City, Florida, following an order designating Judge Harris with all the powers conferred upon a judge of the Fourteenth Judicial Circuit. (R3248-3251,3259-3260,3297)

During voir dire, Appellant's motion for mistrial was denied. (R63-64)

Appellant's objection to testimony about the victim's planned participation in a school play on the day of her death was overruled. (R341,490-492)

Appellant also objected to the introduction of certain evidence and testimony presented through a purported expert witness presented by the State. (R373,376-377,395-399)

Appellant's motion to suppress was denied following a hearing and evidence was introduced over his objection. (R842-843,864-865,950-956,3289-3290) A letter and testimony about that letter was also introduced over Appellant's objection. (R746-773)

Photographs of the victim were admitted over Appellant's objection. (R462-465,497-502A,928-930)

- 3 -

Photographs of Appellant's penis were admitted after the trial court denied Appellant's motion to suppress and overruled his objections. (R551-552)

Appellant sought to introduce certain documents into evidence but was repeatedly rebuffed by the trial court. (R678,1122-1128)

Appellant's motion in limine was denied and the previously recorded testimony of Allen Kruger was read into evidence over objection. (R904-922)

At the conclusion of the State's case, Appellant motion for a judgment of acquittal as to each count was denied. (R1054-1057)

The Appellant presented testimony of three witnesses during his case-in-chief. (R1062-1123) Appellant requested an instruction on circumstantial evidence which was denied by the trial court. (R1146-1149) Appellant's objection to a standard jury instruction was overruled. (R1140-1143) During the State's final summation, Appellant objected to the prosecutor dramatically reading certain letters that were in evidence to the jury. This objection was overruled. (R1249-1250)

Following six and one half hours of deliberation, the jury returned with a verdict of guilty as charged on all counts. (R1295-1301)

Approximately one week later, the penalty phase commenced. (R1311) Appellant's objection to the removal of Juror Milligan was overruled, his motion for mistrial was denied, and an alternate was seated for the penalty phase. (R1311-1319)

- 4 -

Upon the jurors' return for the penalty phase, the trial court with the attorneys' assistance conducted individual inquiries of each juror regarding their exposure to extra-judicial information concerning the case. Three jurors had learned certain information and Appellant objected to the retention of one of those jurors. This objection was overruled and the jury remained intact after Juror Milligan was removed and the alternate seated. (R1322-1336)

The parties stipulated below that the Appellant would not rely upon and the State would present no evidence to rebut the mitigating circumstance of no significant prior criminal history. (R1338-1339,3433-3434)

Appellant's motion to preclude the State's reliance upon the aggravating circumstance provided in Section 921.141(5)(i), Florida Statutes, was denied. (R1645-1647)

Appellant presented the testimony of two mental health professionals as well as the testimony of five lay witnesses at the penalty phase. The State presented the testimony of two psychiatrists. (R1342-1645)

Appellant's specially requested jury instructions were denied. (R1501-1503,1647-1654,3441-3444)

During closing argument by the State at the penalty phase, Appellant objected to certain "Golden Rule" arguments but was overruled. (R1658-1659)

After jury instructions at the penalty phase, the jury, along with one unauthorized alternate, retired to deliberate. The error was eventually realized and the alternate was retrieved and discharged. (R1703-1704)

- 5 -

During the jury's two hours and forty minutes of deliberation following the penalty phase, the jury submitted a written question which was answered by the trial court. Appellant moved for a mistrial based upon the jury question and was denied. (R1703-1705) The jury returned with an eleven to one recommendation for death. (R1706,3432) Appellant's motion that he be sentenced as a mentally disordered sex offender was denied following a hearing. (R2046-2087,2933-2937,3387, 3448-3449)

Appellant's motion for new trial as amended was denied following a hearing. (R1645,1711-1739,3429-3431,3435-3438) Appellant presented further testimony at the sentencing hearing. (R1739-1766) In sentencing Bryan Jennings to death for firstdegree murder, the trial court entered written findings of fact and relied upon three aggravating circumstances and rejected all mitigating circumstances. (R3459-3464,1822-1833) The trial court adjudicated the Appellant guilty of the kidnapping, the sexual battery, and the burglary and sentenced him to consecutive life sentences on each count. A twenty-five year minimum mandatory sentence applies to the capital sexual battery. The trial court allowed Appellant credit for 2,542 days previously served on each of the three counts. (R3453 - 3458)

A timely notice of appeal was filed on May 23, 1986. (R3473) This brief follows.

- 6 -

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

## A. Guilt Phase

On May 11, 1979, Robert and Patricia Kunash awakened to find that their daughter, Rebecca Kunash, age six, was missing from her bedroom. The right bedroom window, which had been left unlocked, was open and the window screen was lying in the yard. (R327-345,354-355,367-371)

Police were summoned to the house. Conducting an investigation, they made a plaster cast of one footprint chosen from the thirty-seven footprints which were found in the coquina sand in the lot adjacent to the Kunash home. (R386-399,411) The consistency of the soil made it difficult to obtain a good impression. (R884-885) Police also recovered latent palm and fingerprints from the bedroom window sill. (R373-379) Several of these prints were determined to match those of Bryan F. Jennings. (R373-379,961-999) The plaster case of the footprint had the same general class characteristics as Jennings' right shoe which was obtained from his mother. (R838-843,850,865, 881-883)

At 2:15 P.M., the victim's body was discovered floating in a nearby canal by a boater. The police recovered the body from the water and transported it to the hosptial for an autopsy. (R432-467) There were injuries to the facial area of the deceased's head and evidence of trauma to the head. (R500-505,543) The medical examiner determined the cause of death to be asphyxia due to drowning. (R544)

- 7 -

The testimony indicated that the injuries to the head were sufficient in and of themselves to cause death. The injuries were consistent with being caused by the head striking a solid surface. (R543) The head injuries would have caused unconsciousness, followed by light coma which would gradually deepen prior to death. (R562-563)

The medical examiner also took swab samples from the victim's vagina, mouth and anus. (R520) A toxicologist's tests of the swabs from the vagina were positive for the presence of prostatic acid phosphatase. (R521-529,685-707) This was said to be indicative of sexual intercourse, although the reliability of the test for this purpose was substantially questioned. (R685-721,1062-1097) Trauma to the vagina occurred before or at the time of death. (R541) Appellant's penis exhibited abrasions which the pathologist believed were consistent with entering the victim's vagina. (R549-554)

At trial, the testimony of Allen Kruger was read into the record. (R909-922) Jennings told him that he (the defendant) had dropped the girl out of her window, picked her up by her legs, brought her up over his head and struck her head on the pavement. Kruger also stated that the Appellant claimed to have held the girl's head under water for ten minutes, leaving her in the water for the crabs, turtles and sharks.

On cross-examination, Kruger admitted that he was currently in state prison having completed three years of his sentence. He first approached the authorities with his story

- 8 -

while he was awaiting sentencing in 1979. He admitted that he failed to mention Jennings' statement during numerous previous interviews with authorities. Kruger denied receiving any benefits as a result of his cooperation with the state, in spite of the fact that he was currently serving his sentence at a minimum security facility. He finally admitted that he would volunteer information to the authorities if he thought it would benefit himself. (R013-917)

Clarence Muszynski, a four-time convicted felon, was incarcerated in the Brevard County Jail with the Appellant prior to Appellant's trial. Muszynski testified that the Appellant approached him in the jail and confessed in detail concerning this offense. According to Muszynski, Jennings broke the girl's bedroom window with a sea shell in order to gain entrance to the home. Musynzki had testified at a previous trial that Jennings told him that he had used a pebble to break the window. (R623-636,647-648) Of course, the evidence revealed that neither of the girl's windows was damaged. (R338-341,354-355,367-371) Muszynski also testified that Jennings told him that he kidnapped the girl and slammed her head on the curb outside the house before driving away. She remained unconscious the entire drive to the canal. Muszynski claimed that Jennings had intercourse with the girl prior to drowning her in the canal. (R637 - 640)

Muszynski admitted that he had been transferred from Florida State Prison, one of the worst institutions, to Avon Park, one of the best, in 1984 which was about one year after he

- 9 -

approached law enforcement officials with his story about Jennings. Muszynski also admitted that he had testified for the State in at least one other case. (R654-656) Muszynski also admitted telling complete and detailed lies in two motions for post- conviction relief that he had filed in 1981 and 1982. (R657-667) An inmate familiar with Muszynski's reputation for truth and veracity revealed that Clarence was dishonest. At one time, Muszynski approached this inmate and asked him to support a tale that Donald Robinson had made a jailhouse confession to Muszynski. (R1111-1121)

Certain incriminating letters which were purportedly written by Jennings to an old high school classmate were introduced at trial. (R746-838) Billy Ray Crisco Jr., another convicted felon, also testified that Jennings told him the details of his crime while the two were both in the Brevard County Jail. Crisco's account differed somewhat in the details from the account related by Clarence Muszynski. (R936-946) Crisco only came forward with this story as recently as October, 1985. (R946)

# B. Penalty Phase

Doctor Michael Gutman, a psychiatrist, testified that Bryan Jennings suffered from a long-term personality pattern with character behavior disorders. These included a passiveaggressive personality and an anti-social personality. Doctor Gutman defined a passive-aggressive personality as one who would sabotoge their own efforts to succeed, namely by being

- 10 -

self-destructive. He defined an anti-social personality as a person who had a minimal conscience and was inclined to drug use. (R1347-1349,1363) Doctor Gutman was of the opinion that the amount of alcohol combined with Jennings' personality disorders resulted in a substantial impairment of Jennings' ability to conform his conduct to the requirements of law. Although Appellant's prognosis was not good, treatment was available for the disorders from which he suffered. (R1365-1366,1370-1371) While Gutman admitted that the character and emotional disorders which afflicted Jennings are not regarded as true mental illness, Jennings definitely suffered from some mental disturbance. (R1376)

Doctor Elizabeth McMahon, a clinical psychologist, administered the most extensive examination of Bryan Jennings. Her findings indicated that Bryan Jennings was immature, impulsive, had little insight and many underlying sexual problems. (R1411-1447) McMahon was of the opinion that Jennings suffered from a personality and character disorder consisting of immaturity and an anti-social personality. McMahon also admitted that Jennings' problems were more of an emotional than a mental disturbance. (R1452) Doctor McMahon's expert opinion was that Jennings' ability to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired at the time of the offense. (R1447-1450)

Doctor Burton Podnos, a psychiatrist testifying for the state, examined Bryan Jennings one time in 1979. Doctor Podnos

- 11 -

concluded that Jennings suffered from a long-time character disorder which caused an inability to relate, lying, truancy, vandalism, poor judgment, lack of impulse control, and lack of responsibility. Doctor Podnos also testified that Jennings also suffered from an anti-social personality disorder. The doctor implied that this afflication was a mental illness, although not a major one. (R1504-1512)

Doctor Podnos was of the opinion that Jennings was not acting under an extreme mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the offense, nor was his capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct impaired. (R1513) Doctor Podnos did admit that the crime started as an impulse, but the doctor's opinion was that it turned into a deliberate act at some point. (R1513-1514) While the doctor also admitted that Jennings' lack of impulse would become more pronounced under the influence of the hallucinogen LSD, the doctor evidently refused to consider the possibility of the effects of such a drug in this particular scenario. (R1520,1528,1540-1544)

Doctor Lloyd Wilder, another psychiatrist testifying for the state called Bryan Jennings a likeable sociopath. Doctor Wilder agreed with Doctor Podnos that Jennings was not acting under an extreme mental or emotional disturbance nor was his capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct impaired. Doctor Wilder did not believe that Jennings' ability to conform his conduct to the requirements of the law was substantially impaired. (R1545-1552) Doctor Wilder did admit that Jennings

- 12 -

suffered from a disorder. When he was asked if the disorder could be classified a mental disease or defect, the doctor conceded that this point was debatable, but concluded that while the disorder was not normal, it was generally not regarded as a mental illness. (R1550-1551)

As a result of Jennings' physical activity during the offense as well as his ability to recall, Doctor Wilder concluded that Jennings was not significantly impaired by alcohol and drugs. Doctor Wilder conceded that his opinion concerning the application of the two statutory mitigating circumstances would change if Jennings had in fact been impaired by chemicals. (R1570-1572) Doctor Wilder concluded that some people simply function better with higher levels of alcohol than others. (R1584)

Although all of the mental health professionals indictated that Bryan was perhaps slightly above average in intelligence, they all agreed that he was extremely immature for his age. Even Doctor Wilder admitted that Jennings is less mature than what a normal 20 year old should be. (R1593-1595)

Bryan Jennings never knew his natural father. His own mother admitted she was not sure who Bryan's father was. Bryan was a very hyperactive child who had life-long problems. He had mental problems from the time he was a toddler. Bryan was born prematurely which was probably the result of his mother changing a tire. He had one half-sister and no other siblings. Margaret Dana, Bryan's mother, met her husband, an alcoholic, while she

- 13 -

was in the hospital. The first five or six years of Bryan's life, he lived with his grandparents rather than his mother. He saw several father figures drift through the household, none staying any length of time. He was separated from his mother for extended periods of time at several points in his childhood. He was forced to transfer schools every two or three years as a result of his mother's work. (R1698-1611) From the age of twelve, Bryan was staying out until six o'clock in the morning in his mother's car. (R1435) He quit school in the tenth grade. The family doctor recognized Bryan's problems, but no one offered his mother any solutions. At one point, Bryan had been accepted at a mental institution in Boston, but he voiced a desire to enter the service instead. His mother became afraid that any length of stay at a mental institution would ruin any chance in the future of obtaining government employment, therefore, she cancelled the institutionalization and Bryan entered the service where his troubles continued. (R1608 - 1609)

The Facompre family testified about a side of Bryan that had not been revealed at trial. Their testimony showed Bryan to be a warm, generous and caring person and a very good friend. He was also a responsible individual and he could be relied upon. Mr. Facompre testified that Bryan was extremely frustrated about his inability to discover his father's identity. Bryan Jennings was the favorite of all of Mr. Facompre's children's friends. He found him to be polite, helpful, and trustworthy. Bryan had all of the desirable traits that Facompre looked for in a person and became like one of the family. (R1620-1644)

- 14 -

## SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

## POINT I

Appellant contends that the photographs of his penis following his illegal confession were improperly admitted into evidence. The photographs were clearly the "fruit of the poisonous tree" of the confession which this Court ruled inadmissible in <u>Jennings v. State</u>, 473 So.2d 204 (Fla. 1985). POINT II

Clarence Muszynski was the most critical witness against the Appellant at trial. As such, his credibility was crucial. The Appellant attempted to introduce into evidence two motions for post-conviction relief which Muszynski filed in 1981 and 1982. The trial court ruled the motions to be inadmissible. The motions contained evidence that Muszynski lied under oath and were improperly excluded.

## POINT III

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