SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

<u>POINT ONE</u>: Photographs of appellant's penis were properly admitted into evidence since the evidence would inevitably have been discovered by investigation independent of and without reference to the prior misconduct of law enforcement personnel.

<u>POINT TWO</u>: The motions for post-conviction relief, which appellant sought to introduce into evidence, were properly excluded pursuant to section 90.614(2), Florida Statutes (1985).

<u>POINT THREE</u>: Relevant evidence is admissible unless excluded by some exception. Appellant has failed to show that the trial court abused its discretion in admitting testimony regarding the victim. Regardless, the alleged error is harmless.

<u>POINT FOUR</u>: The trial court's determination of the preliminary fact of the existence of a warrant for appellant's arrest is supported by the evidence and should not be disturbed on appeal.

<u>POINT FIVE</u>: Photographs of the victim were properly admitted into evidence as they were relevant to the issues of identity and penetration, aided the pathologist in explaining the victim's injuries to the jury, and corroborated the testimony regarding appellant's admissions to the crimes charged.

<u>POINT SIX</u>: The prosecutor's comment was not fairly susceptible of being construed as a comment on appellant's right to remain silent. Regardless, the error was harmless.

<u>POINT SEVEN</u>: Letters written by appellant to a friend were properly admitted into evidence under the Best Evidence Rule.

-1-

<u>POINT EIGHT</u>: The instruction disputed by appellant was previously approved by this court. The trial court was entitled to rely on it. Appellant's special requested instruction was covered by another standard instruction.

<u>POINT NINE</u>: A juror was properly removed from the penalty phase of the trial where her opposition to the death penalty would substantially impair the performance of her duties as a juror.

<u>POINT TEN</u>: The issue of the prosecutor's allegedly improper remark was not properly preserved for review. Regardless, the remark was part of proper argument, restricted to the facts and the law.

<u>POINT ELEVEN</u>: The jury received no evidence concerning the case which it had not already received in open court in the manner prescribed by law. The trial court properly instructed the jury that matters outside of the evidence were not for their consideration.

<u>POINT TWELVE</u>: The alternate juror did not participate in nor was he present during the deliberations of the jury. This issue was not preserved for review by a contemporaneous objection.

<u>POINT THIRTEEN</u>: As was the case in the prior appeal by appellant to this court, the instructions given by the trial court were sufficient.

<u>POINT FOURTEEN</u>: Since appellant was convicted of first degree murder, not a sex offense, appellant fails to meet the definition for a mentally disordered sex offender. Refusal to

-2-

cetify him as such was proper.

•

<u>POINT FIFTEEN</u>: The sentence of death imposed upon appellant was proper in view of the overwhelming evidence supporting the aggravating factors and the lack of mitigating factors.

<u>POINT SIXTEEN</u>: Florida's capital sentencing statute has been repeatedly held to be constitutional by previous decisions of this court.

POINT ONE

PHOTOGRAPHS OF ABRASIONS ON APPELLANT'S PENIS WERE PROPERLY ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE

ARGUMENT

At the hearing on appellant's motion to suppress, appellant sought to exclude from use in evidence against him, among other things, photographs of his penis, as having been obtained as a direct result of an illegally obtained confession (R 3238-3242; of see, paragraph numbers 1 and 4 appellant's motion). Appellant's penis had been injured during the rape of his six year old victim (R 554). At the hearing, the trial court was permitted to use live testimony, deposition transcripts, and prior trial testimony in ruling on the motion (R 1896). The trial court denied appellant's motion, finding that the photographs would have been taken, and the appellant's injury discovered even if appellant had made no statements to the police (R 3290). Appellant now claims that the photographs of his penis should have been excluded from evidence as the poisonous fruits flowing from his illegally obained confession under the holding of <u>Wong Sun v. United States</u>, 371 U.S. 471, 83 S.Ct. 407, 9 L.Ed.2 441 (1963).

At the outset, it should be noted that appellant assumes that the poisonous tree doctrine of <u>Wong Sun</u> applies to physical evidence obtained as a result of the violation of his rights as declared in <u>Miranda v. Arizona</u>, 384 U.S. 436, 86 S.Ct. 1602, 16 L.Ed.2d 694 (1966). As noted by the court in <u>United States v.</u> <u>Scalf</u>, 708 F.2d 1540 (10th Cir. 1983):

-4-

This remains an open question. Compare, Michigan v. Tucker, 417 U.S. 433, 460-61 (White, J., concurring) (evidence which is a fruit of a violation of prophylactic rules of <u>Miranda</u> should not be excluded) and <u>Wilson v. Zant</u>, 249 Ga. 373, 290 S.E.2d 442, 447-448 (1982) (fruit of violation of Edwards is admissible if the was voluntary), <u>cert</u>. U.S. ____, 103 S.Ct. 580, 74 confession denied, U.S. L.Ed.2d 940 (1982) with U.S. v. Downing, 665 F.2d 404, 407-09 (1st Cir. 1981) (fruit of Edwards tainted statement must suppressed) and Massachusetts v. be White, 374 Mass. 132, 371 NEd.2d77, 781 (1977) (fruit of a violation of Miranda rules must be suppressed) <u>aff'd by an</u> <u>equally divided court</u>, 439 U.S.280, 99 S.Ct., 712, 58 L.Ed.2d 519 (1978) (mem.).

<u>Id</u>. at 1545-1546. This issue need not be considered because, even considering the poisonous tree doctrine, the photographs were admissible.

Quoting from <u>Silverthorne Lumber Co. v. United States</u>, 251 U.S. 385, 40 S.Ct. 64, L.Ed.2d 319 (1920) the <u>Wong Sun</u> court noted:

> "The essence of a provision forbidding the acquisition of evidence in a cerain way is that not merely evidence so acquired shall not be used before the Court but that it shall not be used at all. Of course this does not mean that the facts thus obtained become sacred and inaccessible. If knowledge of them is gained from an independent source they may be proved like any others, but the knowledge gained by the Government's own wrong cannot be used by it in the way proposed." (citation omitted).

83 S.Ct. at 416. Thus, the court made it clear that where the facts surrounding a crime would have become known through investigation independent of the illegal investigation, the evidence so obtained would be admissible in the trial of a

-5-

criminal defendant. This doctrine was further expanded by the holding of the court in <u>Nix v. Williams</u>, 104 S.Ct. 2501 (1984), that evidence which would ultimately or inevitably would have been discovered, notwithstanding a constitutional violation, is admissible.

In the instant appeal, the testimony available to the trial court revealed that on the morning that the victim was discovered to be missing, an extensive neighborhood investigation began in order to locate her. A woman had reported seeing a male, who was wearing a red shirt, sitting on a bridge on North Banana River Drive, at around midnight earlier in the morning (R 2432, 2476-2477). Prior to finding the victim's body and during the neighborhood investigation, two young men (appellant and a friend), one wearing a red shirt, were seen pushing a motorcycle in the area (R 1910, 1925, 2476-2477). A deputy was sent to talk to appellant and his friend (R 2434-2435, 2476-2477). Deputy Cain spoke with appellant at this time and obtained appellant's name, address and date of birth (R 1925, 1946,, 2575-2576).

After the victim's body was found, appellant was considered to be a possible suspect or lead, among eighteen or nineteen others (R 1911-1923, 1930-1931). This was because of an awareness, by the deputies, of appellant's past history which included going into another female's house and attacking her (R 1957, 2479). A records check revealed an outstanding Orange County, Florida, warrant for appellant's arrest. Appellant was arrested on this warrant (R 1916, 1928, 1958, 2442, 2578) and taken to the Rockledge substation (R 1930-1931, 2482).

-6-

Deputy Porter spoke with appellant's aunt and mother after an initial interview with appellant at the Rockledge Precinct (R 1931) having prior to this personally observed the footprints thought to belong to the killer at the victim's house (R 1932, 1936-1937). Porter testified that, even if he had not spoken with appellant at the Rockledge precinct, he would have gone to the appellant's home as part of his investigation, independent of the interview, because appellant's name was on the list of leads to check out in connection with the murder (R 1935). Porter further testified that he would also have inquired of appellant's aunt and mother regarding appellant's whereabouts the previous night regardless of the Rockledge interview; would have asked them if they had appellant's clothing; and, would have obtained the clothing (R 1936). Appellant's aunt told Porter that she had seen appellant all wet earlier that morning (R 1936). Porter knew that the victim's body had been found in water and that it was possible that the killer may also have become wet during the crime (R 1944). Appellant's shoes were turned over to the deputies by the ladies; both were very cooperative (R 1959-1960, 1933, 2515, 1452). Porter noticed a distinctive pattern on the sole of appellant's shoes (R 2453). The shoes were later compared to the plaster cast of a shoe print which was taken at the crime scene. The cast and one of the shoes appeared to match Along with this comparison, it was suggested that (R 2459). appellant's fingerprints be compared with those unknown prints discovered at the crime scene (R 2459, 2518).

Prior to the interview of appellant at the jail in

-7-

Titusville, the deputies had been told by the pathologist that the person who raped and killed Rebecca Kunash would likely have injured his penis (R 1928-1920), and that Deputy Plowden had identified the fingerprints discovered at Rebecca's bedroom windows as being identical to appellant's (R 1915, 1922, 1348, Deputy Porter testified that, based upon the shoe 2520). comparison and the fingerprint identification, he felt he had probable cause to arrest appellant (R 1941). As a result, appellant was going to be arrested and an examination and appellant's genitals undertaken photographing of whether appellant had confessed or not (R 1915-1916).

From the foregoing testimony, it was clear to the trial court that the evidence obtained by law enforcement officers, in the instant appeal, would inevitably have been discovered by investigation independent of and without reference to the prior misconduct. As such, denial of appellant's motion to suppress the photographs was proper under <u>Wong Sun</u> and <u>Williams</u>, <u>supra</u>. Even if erroneously admitted, the error was harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence of quilt. <u>Sullivan v. State</u>, 303 So.2d 632 (Fla. 1974).

-8-

POINT TWO

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY EXCLUDED FROM INTRODUCTION INTO EVIDENCE COPIES OF TWO PREVIOUS MOTIONS FOR POST-CONVICTION RELIEF FILED BY A STATE WITNESS.

Appellant sought to introduce into evidence, as substantive evidence in his case-in-chief, two motions for post-conviction relief filed by state witness Muszynski for the purpose of impeaching Muszynski's credibility (R 1122, 1124). Appellant relied on section 90.614(1) and (2), Florida Statutes (1985) for admissibility of the motions as prior inconsistent statements (R 1125-1126).

The disputed testimony surrounded an allegation by witness Muszysnki in a motion for post-conviction relief concerning alleged treatment he received in a hospital in Houston, Texas (R 1124-1125). During cross-examination in the state's case-inchief, appellant questioned witness Muszynski as follows concerning this allegation:

> Thank you. Mr. Muszynski, did you 0. likewise allege in your motion that less than a month prior to that trial you had ward been confined in a mental in Houston, Texas, and you had been hallucinating and you had been treated with Thorazine?

(R 661). Muszynski admitted making the statement in the motion, but said that it was untrue (R 661). Appellant's counsel thought Muszynski had denied making the statement (R 1125). Appellant admitted that his sole purpose in seeking to introduce the motions for post-conviction relief was to argue that Muszynski was a liar (R 1125). The trial court denied appellant's motion

-9-

to admit the post-conviction pleadings into evidence after appellant admitted that Muszynski had agreed that he made the prior statement (R 1127).

The motions were properly excluded from evidence pursuant to section 90.614(2), Florida Statutes (1985). Muszynski admitted made the statement SO it was not a prior inconsistent statement. Even viewed as a prior inconsistent statement, the fact that Muszynski admitted making the statement and explained it, making exclusion of extrinsic evidence of the statement proper under section 90.614(2). Nevertheless, the disputed statements were read into evidence by appellant during his crossexamination of Muszynski.

As for appellant's contention in the hearing on his motion for new trial, that the statements should be admitted to show that Muszynski was insane, this argument was not preserved for review by a contemporaneous objection and is not cognizable on appeal. Castor v. State, 375 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978). During the trial, appellant specifically advised the trial court that the only purpose for which he sought to introduce the post-conviction motions prove that Muszynski was lying (R 1125). was to Appellant was bound by this representation and, for this reason, also, the new ground for admissibility of the motions was not preserved for review. Finally, Muszynski's motions did not qualify as competent expert testimony regarding his sanity.

-10-

POINT THREE

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY ADMITTED RELEVANT TESTIMONY CONCERNING THE VICTIM.

During direct examination by the prosecutor, the victim's father described his actions in searching for her after he discovered she was missing (R 340-341). On the outside wall of the house, underneath the window to the victim's bedroom, the father described having seen a scuff mark which he had not seen there before. The father also related his effort to find the victim at her school (R 341).

Over objection, the father testified that he thought the victim might have gone to the school early because she was excited about being the narrator in her first grade school play (R 342). The principal of the school which the victim attended testified that the victim was to have participated in a May Day program at the school on the day she disappeared (R 491). The trial court ruled that the testimony was relevant to explain why the parents thought the victim might have gone to school (R 342), and looked around their home prior to calling the sheriff (R 491).

Relevant evidence is evidence tending to prove or disprove a material fact. § 90.402, Fla. Stat. (1985). Relevant evidence is admissible unless excluded by some exception. § 90.402, Fla. Stat. (1985). Absent a showing that the trial court abused its discretion, its ruling regarding the admissibility of testimony in a criminal proceeding will not be disturbed. <u>Mikenas v.</u> <u>State</u>, 367 So.2d 606 (Fla. 1979).

The trial court did not abuse its discretion in admitting

-11-

this testimony. The testimony was relevant as an explanation of the prior testimony of the father--that he searched for the victim after he discovered her missing and discovered a scuff mark below her window--which came into evidence without objection. Appellant was not only charged with the murder of the victim, but with kidnapping her (R 2089-2094). This testimony tended to disprove any inference that the jury might draw, or the defense might argue in closing, which suggested that the victim might have left her home willingly or with her parents consent, either with or without the appellant.

Even if erroneously admitted, the error was harmless. The evidence against appellant--including his admissions to cellmates, letters to friends and fingerprints at the victim's residence--was overwhelming.

-12-

POINT FOUR

DENIAL OF APPELLANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS WAS PROPER WHERE THE EXISTENCE OF A WARRANT FOR APPELLANT'S ARREST WAS ESTABLISHED AS A PRELIMINARY FACT BY THE TRIAL COURT.

Appellant filed a motion to suppress fingerprint cards, photographs of himself, shoes taken from his home, and evidence flowing therefrom as a result of his arrest pursuant to an arrest warrant from Orange County, Florida, on the ground that the evidence was obtained as a result of his "illegal warrantless arrest" (R 3242). As a fact preliminary to the grant or denial of appellant's motion, the trial court necessarily was required to pass upon the existence <u>vel non</u> of the Orange County warrant. The court heard testimony and considered the evidence presented by the state, ruling that the outstanding warrant did, in fact, exist (R 3289-3290).

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